RECEIVED
May 07 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT XAVIER GETER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001647

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the Court erred by instructing the jury on transferred intent since that was an improper, inapplicable jury charge in an attempted murder case, where specific intent to kill was an element of that crime?

2.

Whether the Court erred by allowing Richland County Sheriff's investigator Joseph Clarke to testify that defense counsel's opening statement to the jury was the first time he had heard the defense "scenario of the facts," while at the same time he vouched for Victim Stone's testimony being absolutely consistent, since it was an improper for the solicitor to use the sheriff's investigator to opine that the defense case was inconsistent with the evidence he uncovered during his investigation while the victim's testimony was consistent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Richland County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and attempted murder. R. 661. His case came on for trial on April 9, 2018 before the Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, and a jury. Aimee Zmroczek and Ryan Schwartz represented appellant. Richard Cathcart and Jeremiah Shellenberg were the assistant solicitors. R. 1.

On April 12, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty of both charges. R. 613, l. 21 – 614, l. 6. Judge Benjamin sentenced appellant to forty years imprisonment for murder, and she imposed a twenty-year concurrent sentence for attempted murder. R. 623, l. 19 – 624, l. 1.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court erred by instructing the jury on transferred intent since that was an improper, inapplicable jury charge in an attempted murder case, where specific intent to kill is an element of that crime

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

Relevant Facts

Clarence Stone was the victim in the attempted murder charge in this case. In addition to being a customer at Culler’s Pool Room on Monticello Road, “I watched over the place, I cleaned up, sometimes I worked in the kitchen [there].” R. 135, l. 1 – 136, l. 1.

Stone remembered on the night of the incident in this case, March 7, 2015, that he was “basically watching over the place . . . making sure there wasn’t no fighting going on, no arguing, or none of that.” R. 136, ll. 2 – 8. Stone recalled seeing James Lewis, the decedent, there that night, as well as appellant. Stone had met appellant and the decedent through different friends. R. 136, ll. 16 – 25.

Stone was “shooting a game of pool by myself” when he noticed people in the crowded poolroom moving around as if something was wrong. Stone investigated, and he saw that the

decedent was on top of appellant. They were fighting “in between the ATM machine and the bathroom wall.” “Before I even touched him [the decedent], I let him know it was me. And I picked him up off the top of Mr. Geter. I took him out the back on the deck.” R. 138, ll. 4 – 11.

Stone testified that when he went on the back deck with the decedent that the decedent wanted to get back into the main poolroom to get “his chain.” Stone told him, “I’d get it for him.” R. 138, l. 23 – 139, l. 6.

Stone related that after a couple minutes appellant came outside, and “he [appellant] asked Mr. Lewis [the decedent], are we good, we good? He started walking towards him. He gets closer. He swings.” Stone said he thought everything was calm up until this point. Then, the men started fighting for the second time. “That’s when I came in and tried to break it up once again. That’s when I got caught.” Stone said the only two people involved in that fight were the decedent and appellant. “That’s it.” R. 140, ll. 2 – 25.

Stone testified, as he was attempting to break up the fight, “I thought I got hit in the nose. Then, unfortunately, I was stabbed in the eye, and I got caught right here across the pinky.” R. 141, ll. 1 – 6. Stone permanently lost vision in that eye after being stabbed. R. 141, ll. 1 – 24.

Deborah Culler owned the businesses. She was retired from the military. Culler owned the poolroom and “Deli Say No More, Monticello Package, Monticello Pool Room, and Columbia Community Outreach.” R. 18, ll. 8 – 10. She described her business at issue here as “a poolroom, restaurant.”

Culler remembered on the night of March 7, 2015, she was cooking in the kitchen. Appellant and the decedent were both at the poolroom that night. She said the decedent was “a customer and there to protect me, you know, make sure that I don’t leave by myself. He’s

always been a very protective person . . . He is my godson . . . He kept me.” R. 18, l. 8 – 19, l. 10.

Culler described appellant as “just a troubled young man trying to get his life back together.” Culler testified that she had invited appellant to her church, appellant accepted the invitation, and he came to her church. R. 20, ll. 2 – 13. Appellant’s nickname was “Boo.” Culler recalled a “commotion going on,” and that there was a confrontation between the decedent and appellant. R. 29, ll. 2 – 22. “They was exchanging words. And when I came back in, they started fighting.” “All I heard James say [was], Go on ahead, Man, go ahead on. And Boo kept coming after him. He just kept coming after him. And then the next thing you know, he jumped on him and they started fighting.” R. 30, ll. 7 – 13.

Culler testified that “James was on top of him [appellant]. And the guys came from around the corner and broke the fight up.” R. 30, ll. 14 – 23. Culler maintained: “It was a one-on-one fight” between the decedent and appellant. R. 31, ll. 14 – 15.

Culler said that she then asked appellant to leave. Her memory was that the decedent had already left the poolhall at that point. R. 32, ll. 3 – 25.

Culler did not see the second fight in which the decedent and Stone were stabbed. “I saw Mr. Lewis coming in the back door. He had two people on his side bringing him in, and he was all bloodied up. He was all bloodied up. And they brought him from the back door to the front door and they set him in the front door. And we tried to get him comfortable. We laid him flat. We tried to get him comfortable until the ambulance came to get him. And he was bleeding terribly.” R. 33, ll. 1 – 9.

On cross-examination, Culler said that the decedent had left the poolroom apparently to go outside to the back deck, when she asked appellant to leave. This occurred in a very crowded

poolhall where there were approximately forty people present inside or on the back deck. R. 50, l. 21 – 51, l. 8. Culler admitted during a previous proceeding (the mistrial) that she had testified that the decedent went outside *after* appellant had already gone there. In other words, the decedent followed appellant outside, and not the other way around. Culler now said she must have been mistaken at the prior proceeding, apparently citing health problems at the time of that trial. She now maintained: “James left first.”¹ R. 67, l. 19 – 68, l. 19.

Reeshemah Culler was the daughter of Rebecca Culler. She was also present on the night of March 7, 2015 when the fight occurred with some friends. R. 86, l. 19 – 87, l. 24. Culler remembered that “Robert Geter and James Lewis was fighting.” R. 91, ll. 10 – 20. Culler also recalled, “Mr. Lewis got the best of him . . . and there was several guys that was trying to break it up. And every time they would break the fight up, I would see Mr. Geter coming back at Mr. Lewis.” R. 92, l. 12 – 93, l. 18.

Culler maintained that the decedent went out the back door, and “my mom was telling Mr. Geter to leave.” R. 94, ll. 15 – 21. “[A]nd Mr. Geter was standing there and my mom was asking him to leave, and he was telling her that he didn’t do anything, he didn’t do anything. So finally, he did leave, but I was watching him because my mom was talking to him, so I was watching him. And I saw him put his hand in his coat, but I can’t say if he pulled anything out of it or not, I just saw him put his hand like in his coat. And he went around the same corner

¹ A prior trial was held May 15-17, 2017 before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay. Judge Macaulay denied appellant immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act statute, and that jury trial ended in a mistrial based on certain jurors not coming forward with information they knew about the case during *voir dire*. Judge Macaulay denied appellant immunity after the prior pre-trial immunity hearing before the mistrial, in large part, because he found Deborah Culler had asked appellant to leave between the non-fatal fight and the second, fatal fight. Judge Macaulay, however, erred by finding that conflicting evidence mandated the jury decide the “self-defense” issue at trial. R. 2, l. 12 – 4, l. 16. See State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 827 S.E.2d 564 (2019)(Just because conflicting evidence as to immunity exists does not automatically require the court to deny immunity).

towards the back door where Mr. James Lewis went.” R. 95, l. 18 – 96, l.3. Culler claimed she then heard a commotion, “A lot of people started running, Oh, he got a gun, he got a gun.” R. 96, l. 23 – 97, l. 9.

Culler said during the next fight that ensued appellant stabbed the decedent and “[H]e picked him up again, just like that, stood over him and he took the knife and he hit him right there in the chest. And he pulled it up and he snatched it out and said, I do this shit, Nigga, and threw him down, and he went down the back doorsteps of the deck. And I haven’t seen him since.” Culler said a couple of women helped the decedent get to the front of the club until the EMS paramedics arrived. R. 99, l. 7 – 101, l. 22.

On cross-examination, Culler admitted, “I can’t tell you exactly how it [the fight] started, but I can tell you that I saw the fight.” R. 132, ll. 9 – 20.

Michael Harkness was Rebecca Culler’s brother. He was also at the poolhall on the night of the incident. R. 70, l. 6 – 71, l. 23. Harkness remembered that appellant and the decedent were fighting, and “by the time I got around there, they had done broke it up. Then the second time it started again, I seen the second fight.” R. 72, ll. 16 – 22.

Harkness testified that appellant started the fight by “stepping on his [the decedent’s] foot. He asked him not to step on his foot no more.” Harkness offered that the decedent had just had surgery on his foot. R. 72, l. 23 – 73, l. 14.

The essence of Harkness’s testimony, that the state wanted before the jury, was his belated claim at trial that before appellant went out on the back porch where the decedent was, he allegedly said: “I’m going to kill me somebody tonight.” R. 171, ll. 2 – 24. On cross-examination, Harkness admitted he did not talk to the police after the incident and that it was

only at the time of trial that he first alleged appellant made the threat to kill someone that night. R. 84, l. 20 – 85, l. 11.

The surgeon, Dr. Alejandro Luis, operated on the decedent on the night of the stabbing. He testified that the decedent died of a stab wound to his left chest. R. 86, l. 9 – 88, l. 21. Dr. Luis explained that the decedent was given “massive amounts of blood” in transfusions, and that the decedent “died on us, and then we began intracardiac CPR. So that’s basically when we squeeze the heart to get it to beat again. Heart has [a] very good memory. So if you can help it along, it will beat.” Dr. Luis said he continued this intracardiac CPR for approximately twenty minutes, and when the decedent still had no regular heartbeat or rhythm, “We had at that point decided to let the patient expire and cease our efforts.” R. 187, ll. 1 – 24.

Directed Verdict Motion

When moving for a directed verdict on the attempted murder charge, defense counsel referenced Clarence Stone’s testimony that “I got caught in the eye trying to break up the fight. And I even clarified that again, I said, you got caught in the eye?” Counsel argued there was no specific intent to kill Stone. Stone was inadvertently stabbed while trying to break up a fight between appellant and the decedent. R. 324, l. 5 – 325, l. 5.

The solicitor argued that “He got stabbed in the eye as Mr. Geter was attempting to kill Mr. Lewis.” The solicitor urged under the doctrine of transferred intent that the specific intent to kill Lewis was transferred to Stone. Defense counsel argued that, while it was an unsettled question in South Carolina whether transferred intent could apply to attempted murder, she concluded, “there is no transferred intent to attempted murder.” Counsel added, “I understand *that in murder cases or felony murder cases, the intent follows the bullet.* And if we’re going to argue—we weren’t moving for a directed verdict motion on the murder because I believe that is

a question of fact whether it was self-defense or not. However, I think that we can run into a problem because if it is—if they do find self-defense on the murder and then—then there is no—then the intent was to kill in self-defense. And so there is no transferred intent to the attempted murder.” R. 324, l. 5 – 327, l. 3. (emphasis added).

The solicitor again claimed, “when someone is stabbed in the face *because he was trying to kill somebody else, that is the intent to kill and malice transfers to the person who is attacked, both of them.*” R. 327, ll. 5 – 16. (emphasis added). The judge then stated she thought the defense presented an interesting argument on transferred intent and she said, “I’m not sure they are going to be able to find not guilty of murder and guilty of the attempted murder if the argument is transferred intent.” The judge concluded specific intent to kill was an issue of fact the jury had to decide and denied the directed verdict motion. R. 327, l. 17 – 329, l. 11.

When the solicitor essentially asserted that appellant committed a crime when he stabbed a man (Stone) in the face, the judge interjected that the attorneys later may need to discuss lesser-included offenses [of attempted murder].” R. 329, ll. 4 – 16.

Appellant Testifies

Appellant took the stand in his own defense. He testified he had finished the eleventh grade at Eau Claire High School, and he had worked various jobs. He was apparently working for an electric company at the time of the incident. He was helping “wiring for the dorms at Fort Jackson.” He had also worked at Columbia Farms. R. 348, ll. 3 – 25.

On the day of the poolroom incident, appellant testified, “I had the day off” and “I was selling t-shirts, pocket books, pants, things like that . . . on Monticello Road, right across the street from Culler’s Pool Hall.” R. 349, ll. 5 – 20.

That evening, appellant left his girlfriend's house after she got home from working at the Babcock Center. Appellant walked to a friend's house where "we played video games and chilled for a minute." They then went to Culler's Pool Hall around eight or nine p.m. that evening. Appellant remembered there was a good crowd -- between thirty and forty people -- at the pool hall. R. 350, l. 8 – 351, l. 23.

Appellant knew the decedent. He remembered that night he had purchased a beer and was putting money in the juke box when the decedent told him that he had stepped on his foot. "And I was like, Oh, my bad, my bad, my bad, you know what I'm saying. I'm having a good time. I'm like, my bad." R. 356, l. 20 – 357, l. 16.

Appellant testified that Clarence Stone then tried to intervene as if there were a problem. Appellant told Clarence, "Man, you ain't got nothing to do with this. You ain't got nothing to do with this." R. 357, ll. 11 – 23. Appellant said after he apologized to the decedent for stepping on his foot that "Clarence hit me from behind. He hit me in the back of my head. So I turned around and I grabbed Clarence's hand to stop him from hitting me, and that's when James jumped in." R. 358, ll. 10 – 23.

Appellant admitted that the decedent was beating him badly. As appellant tried to defend himself, "Clarence come and kicked me in the face." Appellant continued to fight, and the decedent ended up getting stabbed during the fight. R. 362, l. 5 – 364, l. 25. Appellant remembered, "My eyes were shut, both my eyes were shut, and it was blurry. All I seen was blur, like two people at the same time. And I still got the knife. So everybody came up to me, like, Man, what happened, what happened, Boo? I was like, Man, they just jumped me, they just jumped me." Appellant remembered the decedent "come out the back door" saying, "Mother fucker, you just stabbed me." R. 365, ll. 1 – 14.

Appellant testified on cross-examination that there were a number of men “stomping me, but my only focus was on Clarence and James because they was the closest. They was getting the most licks in. They was the closest.” Appellant confirmed he thought there were about five men beating him that evening. R. 401, ll. 1 – 12.

The judge ultimately charged transferred intent over objection:

Ladies and gentlemen, we'll next talk about the doctrine of transferred intent. If the Defendant with malice aforethought attempts to kill another person, but by mistake injures or kills a different person, the law considers that the Defendant still had the intent to kill. Intent to kill is a mental state. It exists in the mind. *So if the State proves that a Defendant acting with malice had the intent to kill one person, but mistakenly injured another, the intent to kill is merely transferred from the original person the Defendant attempted to kill to the actual person injured.* Pursuant to the transfer intent doctrine, if one person intends to harm a second person, but instead unintentionally harms a third, the first person's criminal intent towards the second applies to the third as well.

R. 593, l. 11 – 594, l. 3. (emphasis added).

After the judge charged the jury, defense counsel renewed her objections to the jury charge, noting “specifically to the renewed objection to transferred intent.” R. 605, ll. 11 – 17.

After the verdict, defense counsel moved for a new trial based on her objection to charging the jury on transferred intent as to attempted murder. R. 615, l. 6 – 616, l. 1. The judge denied the motion for a new trial for charging transferred intent over objection. R. 616, l. 25 – 617, l. 2.

Discussion

The state successfully had the trial judge instruct the jury on transferred intent because its theory of the case was that appellant killed the decedent during a fight by stabbing him in the chest, and that Clarence Stone was collateral damage or accidentally stab in the eye while attempting to break-up the fight. The state wanted the jury to transfer appellant’s alleged intent

to kill the decedent to Stone's injuries thereby finding appellant guilty of the attempted murder of Stone. Given the judge's instruction on transferred intent above there was respectfully no way the jury could not have convicted appellant of attempted murder for Stone getting stabbed.

In Cockrell v. State, 890 S0.2d 174 (2004), which is discussed more fully infra, the Alabama Supreme Court held that the doctrine of transferred intent did not apply to the charge of the attempted murder as to an unintended victim. The Cockrell court cited Rollin M. Perkins, Perkins on Criminal Law 826 (2d ed.1969) (footnote omitted) with the following example:

“If, without justification, excuse or mitigation D with intent to kill A fires a shot which misses A but unexpectedly inflicts a non-fatal injury upon B, D is guilty of an attempt to commit murder—but the attempt was to murder A whom D was trying to kill and not B who was hit quite accidentally. And so far as the criminal law is concerned there is no transfer of this intent from one to the other so as to make D guilty of an attempt to murder B. Hence, an indictment or information charging an attempt to murder B, or (under statute) an assault with intent to murder B, will not support a conviction if the evidence shows that the injury to B was accidental and the only intent was to murder A.”

Cockrell v. State, 890 So.2d 174, 177 (2004). (emphasis added).

Attempted murder requires proof that the defendant had a specific intent to kill the victim. State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810, S.E.2d 18 (2017). In State v. Williams, 427 S.C. 148, 829 S.E.2d 702 (2019), the Supreme Court left open “for another day” the determination of whether the doctrine of transferred intent applies to attempted murder. However, the issue may be decided in State v. Michael Juan Smith, Appellate Case No. 2018-002050, which is pending

in the state Supreme Court on certiorari from this Court at the time of the writing of this initial brief².

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