**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

ROBERT XAVIER GETER,.....APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001647

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR  
Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3970

BYRON GIPSON  
Solicitor Fifth Judicial Circuit  
P.O. Box 192  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

required because the requisite element is imputed from the conduct of the defendant. *Id.* Appellant must be held responsible for all of the consequences that is a result of said act.

In *State v. Williams*, 422 S.C. 525, 812 S.E.2d 917 (Ct. App. 2018) this court ruled that the circuit court did not err in instructing the jury on transferred intent in a case involving attempted murder.<sup>2</sup> In *Williams*, this court determined that “A person who acting with malice, unleashes a deadly force in an attempt to kill. . . an intended victim should anticipate that the law will require him to answer fully for his deeds when that force kills or injures an unintended victim.” *Williams*, 422 S.C. at 543, 812 S.E.2d at 926, quoting, *Fennell*, 340 S.C. at 276, 531 S.E.2d at 517.

Appellant had a total disregard for human life. He attacked two people with a knife after being ordered by the owner of the establishment to leave the premises. He was specifically being heard saying “I’m gonna kill somebody tonight.” That obviously reveals an intent to kill someone and he accomplishes this by attacking both victims killing one and severely injuring the other. The act of the Appellant was definitely an act of malice, and the fact one of the victims did not also die due to his actions should not absolve Appellant or relieve him of any punishment that he has received due to his act of recklessness. It should not be excused that Mr. Stone was not the intended victim, he is a victim who was attacked and suffered a permanent injury. The fact he was lucky enough to survive should not absolve the Appellant of his actions.

The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the law regarding transferred intent. This case should have been submitted to the jury with the jury making a

---

<sup>2</sup>The South Carolina Supreme Court recently ruled, “Because the court of appeals treated the case as if it had been tried as a specific-intent crime, we vacate the portion of its opinion dealing with the issue of transferred intent and leave for another day the determination of whether the doctrine applies to attempted murder.” *State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 148, 157-158, 829 S.E.2d 702, 707 (2019)

determination as to whether or not transferred intent existed. The question of intent with which an act is done is one of fact and is ordinarily for jury determination. *State v. Tuckness*, 257 S.C. 295, 299, 185 S.E.2d 607, 608 (1971).

In other jurisdictions it has been determined that transferred intent can apply to attempted murder. The elements of attempted murder in Illinois are very similar to that of South Carolina.<sup>3</sup> The Illinois Appellant Court has decided that the doctrine of transferred intent is applicable in attempted murder cases, *People v. Swaney*, 2 Ill.App.3d 857, 276 N.E.2d 346 (1971); *People v. Burrage*, 269 Ill.App.3d 67, 645 N.E.2d 346 (1994); *People v. Hill*, 276 Ill.App.3d 683, 658 N.E.2d 1294 (1995); *People v. Carlisle*, 35 N.E.3d 649 (2015).

In *State v. Ross*, the Louisiana Court of Appeals decided;

The doctrine of transferred intent provides that “[w]hen a person shoots at an intended victim with specific intent to kill or inflict great bodily harm and accidentally kills or inflicts great bodily harm upon another person, if the killing or inflicting of great bodily harm would have been unlawful against the intended victim actually intended to be shot, then it would be unlawful against the person actually shot even though that person was not the intended victim.”

*State v. Ross*, 115 So.2d 616, 621 (2013), quoting, *State v. Stroger*, 814 So.2d 725, 728 (2002).

There was obviously an act of malice toward both victims. When this occurs transferred intent applies. It is insufficient to argue that due to the fact Mr. Stone was not the intended victim, the Appellant should be absolved of all acts toward Mr. Stone that caused his extensive injuries. Theoretically, the doctrine applies in any case where there is intent to commit a criminal act and the only difference between the actual result and the contemplated result is the nature of the personal or property injuries sustained. *Ochoa*, 115 Nev. At 198. If there exist intent and malice

---

<sup>3</sup> An individual commits the offense of attempted murder when with, **specific intent to kill**, he does any act which constitutes a substantial step toward the commission of murder. *People v. Hill*, 276 Ill.App.3d 683, 687, 658 N.E.2d 1294, 1297 (1995)(emphasis added).

any person who has committed an act of violence should suffer the consequences of this act, regardless if the injured party was the intended victim or not. It was proper for the trial court to instruct the jury on the doctrine of transferred intent, especially since attempted murder was the only charge the Appellant could have been convicted of committing.<sup>4</sup>

- 2. The court did not err in allowing investigator Joseph Clark's testimony regarding what he observed during his investigation. Since he never gave his opinion regarding what was presented before the jury, his testimony was lawful.**

Richland County Sheriff's Department investigator Joseph Clarke testified regarding what he found as part of his investigation. During his testimony he was asked about the opening argument made by the defense attorney during this trial. As part of a redirect examination conducted by the Respondent, investigator Clarke was asked about the scenario of facts Appellant's attorney relayed to the jury during her opening argument and whether this was the first time he ever heard of the defense of self-defense. He answered "yes." (R. p. 248 lines 23-25) Investigator Clarke was also asked if the statement given to him by Mr. Stone was the same given through his testimony. Investigator Clarke responded, "seems absolutely consistent, correct." (R. p. 248 line 25) There Appellant argues that investigator Clarke gave the impression that self-defense was inconsistent with the corroborated evidence, and that the self-defense argument was an "invention." The Appellant further argues that investigator Clarke vouched for Mr. Stone's credibility by stating that his testimony was consistent with the prior statement Mr. Stone had given to him during his investigation.

Investigator Clarke only gave testimony of things he heard or saw. It is lawful for a lay witness to testify regarding something he heard or saw. Pursuant to Rule 701 of the rules of evidence which state:

---

<sup>4</sup> The Appellant refused a court instruction on the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. (R. p. 518 lines 22 – p. 519 line 10)

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness' testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

#### Rule 701 SCRE

Investigator Clarke just answered yes as to this being the first time hearing the self-defense argument. An opinion that he was later corrected on in re-cross examination. (R. p. 249 lines 7-18) He never revealed any opinion that he believed his statement was true or false. Investigator Clarke never gave the impression that Mr. Stone's testimony was credible. He just said that the testimony he gave during trial is "consistent" to what was told to him earlier. He never gave any opinion regarding its truth or veracity.

Within his brief Appellant's list numerous decisions regarding witnesses giving their opinion on a certain topic, or event during their testimony. Most of these cases involved expert witnesses improperly bolstering witness testimony. *Chappell v. State*, 429 S.C. 68, 837 S.E.2d 496 (2019)(Court ruled that an expert stating "children don't often lie about sexual abuse indictments" was improper bolstering.), *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. 316, 806 S.E.2d 713 (2017)(Expert erred when she testified that she conduct forensic interviews for the purpose of finding out whether the sexual abuse happened – Thereby expressing to the jury she already made that determination.), *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 (2011)(Trial court abused its discretion in allowing the state to introduce reports of the expert stating that each child "provided a compelling disclosure of abuse by appellant."), *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 725 S.E.2d 142 (2012)(Forensic interviewer testifying that "both interviews that I conducted with her, I found them to be compelling for sexual abuse," was inadmissible), *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 737 S.E.2d 490 (2013)(The forensic interviewer stating that victim had given a

“compelling finding” of child abuse was inadmissible but harmless), *Gilchrist v. State*, 350 S.C. 221, 565 S.E.2d 281 (2002) (Solicitor improperly vouched witness’s credibility in opening statement.) In each of these cases there were statements of improper bolstering. A witness relaying to the jury that a person was truthful or showed signs of abuse. Investigator Clarke never relayed his personal opinion as to the defense raised by the Appellant, or the truth of Mr. Stone’s testimony. He just gave a statement about what he heard during the investigation.

A witness may not give an opinion for the purpose of conveying to the jury – directly or indirectly – that she believes the victim. *Briggs v. State*, 421 S.C. at 324, 806 S.E.2d at 718. Improper bolstering is “testimony that indicates the witness believes the victim but does not serve some other valid purpose.” *Id.* at 325, 806 S.E.2d at 718. The jury could not determine the opinion of investigator Clarke just by these statements, so no improper bolstering exist.

Within his brief Appellant relies on this court’s recent decision of *Chappell v. State*, 429 S.C. 68, 837 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2019). Within *Chappell* this court outlines the elements that reveals if a witness is improperly bolstering a witness. This court decided that the testimony of a witness is improper bolstering if: 1) the witness directly states an opinion about the victim’s credibility; 2) the sole purpose of the testimony is to convey the witness’s opinion about the victim’s credibility; or 3) there is no way to interpret the testimony other than to mean the witness believes the victim is telling the truth. *Chappell*, 429 S.C. at 77, 837 S.E.2d at 501. In looking at the *Chappell* criteria this court should not find that the testimony of investigator Clarke can be considered improper bolstering.

Investigator Clarke was asked if the testimony of Mr. Stone was identical now than what was told to him during his investigation. First, Investigator Clarke never gave any opinion regarding the truth of the statements made by Mr. Stone. He just said that the statement was

“absolutely consistent” to what was told to him when he interviewed him prior to trial. He never relayed to the jury any opinion regarding any belief that his testimony was the truth or that it should be believed. Second, this was not the sole purpose of Investigator Clarke’s testimony. He is the lead investigator in this case. He testified not only about witness statements that was given to him in order for him to find probable cause to obtain arrest warrants, but he also testified about what he saw in terms of forensic evidence when he arrived at the scene. He also was able to testify regarding contact made with the Appellant prior to his turning himself in, and Appellant’s statements once he arrived at the sheriff’s department. Third, there was plenty of ways to interpret the statements of Investigator Clarke regarding the testimony of Mr. Stone other than believing he was bolstering his testimony. Investigator Clarke just said that his testimony was consistent. He never stated that it was the truth or that everything he said must be believed. There was no bolstering in the statement of Investigator Clarke. So this case should not be reversed based on these grounds.

If there exist any error regarding the testimony of Investigator Clarke it must be considered harmless. In *State v. Young*, 420 S.C. 608, 803 S.E.2d 888 (2017) this court defined the harmless error doctrine. In *Young* this court decided:

The harmless-error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant’s guilt or innocence, and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error.

*Young*, 420 S.C. at 628, 803 S.E.2d at 899, quoting, *Deleware v. VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986).

Error is harmless only when it could not reasonably have affected result of trial. *State v. Charping*, 313 S.C. 147, 437 S.E.2d 88 (1993). Investigator Clarke’s testimony alone did not

affect the outcome of this trial. There was sufficient evidence including eyewitness testimony and forensic evidence proving that the Appellant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

The Appellant got into a fight against Mr. Lewis and according to testimony presented to be the aggressor. Even though he was beaten by Mr. Lewis he refused to continue to stop coming after him. (R. p. 92 lines 19-22) The fight was finally broken up and Mr. Stone took Mr. Lewis outside to cool off. At that time the owner testified that she told Appellant to leave. There was testimony that the Appellant not only failed to follow her instructions but stated, "I'm gonna kill somebody tonight" and proceeded to go onto the deck with the intent of attacking the victim. He proceeded to go after both men with a knife, killing one and injuring the other. This totally reveals a malicious act with a depraved heart bent on mischief. This act was absent any mistake or reason. Everyone testified that Mr. Lewis was the sole person involved in the fight with the Appellant, and when the fight ended he attacked the victim. This was an act of malice, a total disregard of human life. When a person commits an act like this he must expect some type of punishment. There was obviously sufficient evidence revealing that he was the aggressor, that there was not a group of men attacking him but a fight between two men that after it ended the Appellant followed these men outside with the sole intent to kill. This was an intentional attack and not one of Appellant defending himself. Deborah Culler and her daughter Reeshemah testified that the Appellant was the person that kept coming after Mr. Lewis, and Mr. Stone testified that once outside the Appellant came to them making them think that it was over and he wanted to make peace, then attacked both men with a knife. Reeshemah looked through the door during the attack and testified that she saw Appellant stabbing Mr. Lewis multiple times and then once lying on the floor fighting for his life the Appellant pulled the knife out of his body. This reveals no mistake or accident and definitely reveals malice.

The Appellant is the only person who testified that a group of men attacked him. However, all of the physical evidence corroborated the testimony of each witness. He stated that he stabbed Mr. Lewis on the dance floor, however, all of the blood evidence was on the deck where according to all of the witnesses is where the fight occurred. Investigator Yvonne Woods was crime scene investigator who testified that she did a walk-through of the premises and put markers down everywhere blood was found. (R. p. 265, lines 4-8) She found reddish-brown stains on the back deck. (R. p. 261, lines 14-15) Dr. Gary Amick an expert on DNA analysis testified that all of the blood swabs investigator Woods took at the crime scene matched the DNA of the victim Mr. Lewis. (R. p. 261 lines 14-15)

There were sufficient testimony and forensics that corroborated this testimony to find the Appellant guilty of murder and attempted murder. Investigator Clarke statements regarding the opening statements and testimony of Mr. Stone had no effect on the final outcome. This is due to the fact all of the eyewitness testimony were basically the identical facts. Which was matched by the forensic evidence collected. So if there exist any error by the few statements made by investigator Clark it is completely harmless. It had no effect on the final outcome due to the all of the evidence that was presented proving the Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

**CONCLUSION**

The trial court made the proper decisions regarding this matter the Respondent respectfully request this court to affirm the decision of the trial court.